RECEIVED

Jul 17 2024

SC Court of Appeals

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

Appeal from Charleston County
Court of Common Pleas

Roger M. Young, Sr., Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2021-CP-10-05645

Appellate Case No. 2024-000064

The Charleston School of Law, LLC,
a South Carolina limited liability company,

Respondent,

v.

City of Charleston, a municipal corporation, and
OmShera Hotel Group, LLC,
a North Carolina limited liability company,

Defendants.

Of which City of Charleston, a municipal corporation, is the

Appellant.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

CLEMENT RIVERS, LLP
Stephen L. Brown (SC Bar No. 66468)
Wilbur E. Johnson (SC Bar No. 3062)

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the circuit court err in granting Plaintiff's¹ motion for a partial judgment on the pleadings against the City^{2,3}**
- A. Did the circuit court misapply the legal standard for deciding a motion for judgment on the pleadings?**
- B. Did the circuit court misinterpret subsections (6) and (7) of S.C. Code Ann. § 5-7-260 and wrongly find them inapplicable?**
- C. Did the circuit court misinterpret the 2004 Ordinance⁴ and wrongly find that the City's mayor could extinguish the Reverter Clause⁵?**
- D. Did the circuit court err in finding that the merger doctrine extinguished the 2004 Ordinance?**
- E. Out of an abundance of caution, assuming, *arguendo*, that the circuit court might be said to have done so, to the extent that the circuit court found the City liable as to any of Plaintiff's claims based on its interpretation of § 5-7-260, did it err in doing so?**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Filed in the Charleston County Court of Common Pleas on December 17, 2021, this lawsuit arises out of a dispute between Plaintiff, a for-profit limited liability company that owns and operates the Charleston School of Law,⁶ and the City over a parcel of real property in downtown Charleston commonly known as 431 Meeting Street (the "Property"). (Summons; Compl. (exhibits omitted).)

¹ "Plaintiff" refers to Plaintiff/Respondent, The Charleston School of Law, LLC.

² The "City" refers to Defendant/Appellant, City of Charleston.

³ To be clear, this issue, and the corresponding argument below, includes and covers circuit court error both in granting Plaintiff's motion and in denying the City's corresponding motion for reconsideration.

⁴ The "2004 Ordinance" is defined below.

⁵ The "Reverter Clause" is defined below.

⁶ (Am. Compl. ¶ 6; City's Am. Answer ¶¶ 173, 200.)

The City sold the Property to Plaintiff by deed dated July 1, 2005, subject to certain conditions,⁷ which, as mandated by the City ordinance authorizing the sale, “are a binding servitude on the Property . . . deemed to run with the land in perpetuity” and are required to be included “in any deed or other legal instrument by which [Plaintiff] divests itself of either the fee simple title or any other lesser estate in the Property or any portion thereof,” most notably, a possibility of reverter (the “Reverter Clause”), providing that ownership of the Property automatically reverts back to the City in the event that, at any point within the following six (6) years, the Property is not used solely for law school purposes and if permanent development construction to facilitate that usage (i.e., a law school building) is not commenced within the six (6)-year period. (Ex. 2 to Am. Compl. [Deed to Plaintiff]; Ex. A to City’s Am. Answer [2004 Ordinance].)

Plaintiff’s operative complaint alleges causes of action against the City for (1) breach of contract seeking monetary damages, (2) breach of contract seeking specific performance, (3) declaratory judgment, (4) estoppel, (5) injunctive relief, and (6) attorney fees and costs. (Am. Compl. [with exhibits].) Plaintiff contends that, in the years following Plaintiff’s purchase of the Property, the City entered into certain agreements under which it is obligated to extinguish the Reverter Clause and that, by refusing to do so, the City has wrongly prevented Plaintiff from selling the Property to Defendant Omshera Hotel Group, LLC (“OmShera”). (*Id.*)

In its defense, the City denies the validity of the alleged agreements on which Plaintiff relies, contending they are illegal and unenforceable pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 5-7-260 (requiring the passage of a municipal ordinance to accomplish certain acts). (City’s Am. Answer (with exhibits).) Besides its responses to Plaintiff’s allegations, the City pleads numerous

⁷ In this context, “conditions” refers collectively to [t]he notices, terms, covenants,

affirmative defenses and counterclaims against Plaintiff for fraudulent inducement and declaratory relief, alleging that the alleged agreements on which Plaintiff relies are not only unenforceable pursuant to § 5-7-260 but also because Plaintiff misrepresented to the City that the Property was not suitable for a permanent law school and, indeed, that, pursuant to the self-executing Reverter Clause, the Property automatically reverted back to the City when six (6) years passed without the construction of a law school building. (*Id.*)

By motion filed November 7, 2022, Plaintiff sought a judgment on the pleadings in its favor against the City as to (1) the City's liability under its breach of contract and declaratory judgment causes of action and (2) the City's defenses and/or counterclaims based on § 5-7-260. (Pl.'s Mot. for J. on the Pleadings.) The motion was briefed⁸ and, on September 26, 2023, came on for hearing in the circuit court, the Honorable Roger M. Young, Sr., presiding. (Tr. of 9/26/23 Mot. Hr'g.) The circuit court granted Plaintiff's motion by order filed November 20, 2023,⁹ and thereafter denied the City's timely motion for reconsideration¹⁰ by order filed December 13, 2023. (Order Denying the City's Mot. for Reconsideration.)

By notice served January 12, 2024, this appeal timely follows. (Notice of Appeal; Proof of Service.)

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In or about 2004, the City's former mayor Joseph P. Riley brokered a deal with the U.S. Government to procure the Property with City funds to aid Plaintiff in building a permanent law school on the Charleston peninsula. (City's Am. Answer ¶¶ 178-179.) In accordance with this

restrictions, and reservations" in Plaintiff's deed. (Ex. 2 to Am. Compl. [Deed to Plaintiff].)

⁸ (Pl.'s Mem. in Supp. of Mot. for J. on the Pleadings (with exhibits); City's Mem. in Opp'n to Pl.'s Mot. for J. on the Pleadings.)

⁹ (Order Granting Mot. for J. on the Pleadings.)

¹⁰ (City's Mot. for Reconsideration.)

plan, the City purchased the Property and shortly thereafter sold it to Plaintiff. (City's Am. Answer ¶¶ 179-180.) Based on Plaintiff's commitment to build a permanent law school building on the Property, the City sold the Property to Plaintiff for nearly \$300,000 *less* than the City had just paid for it and financed Plaintiff's purchase of the Property at a low rate (either 1% below prime or 5%, whichever was lower), allowing Plaintiff to pay interest only for ten (10) years before payment of the principal balance came due. (City's Am. Answer ¶¶ 180, 182; Ex. 3 to Am. Compl. [Promissory Note].) But for the City's efforts, Plaintiff never would have had any rights in the Property. (City's Am. Answer ¶ 181.)

The City sold the Property to Plaintiff on or about July 1, 2005. (City's Am. Answer ¶ 186; Ex. 2 to Am. Compl. [Deed to Plaintiff].) As required by § 5-7-260(6),¹¹ the sale was specifically authorized and approved by the City's municipal council ("City Council") via its passage of City Ordinance No. 2004-150 (the "2004 Ordinance"). (City's Am. Answer ¶ 184; *see also* Ex. 1 to Am. Compl. [Codified 2004 Ordinance]; Ex. A to City's Am. Answer [2004 Ordinance].) The Reverter Clause is mandated by and a material provision of the 2004 Ordinance,¹² and again, the Reverter Clause was duly included in Plaintiff's deed and is "a binding servitude on the Property . . . deemed to run with the land in perpetuity" that is required to be included "in any deed or other legal instrument by which [Plaintiff] divests itself of either the fee simple title or any other lesser estate in the Property or any portion thereof." (Ex. 2 to Am. Compl. [Deed to Plaintiff]; *see also* City's Am. Answer ¶¶ 183-85.) During the six (6)-year period established by the Reverter Clause, the Property was not used for law school purposes and no law school building was built thereon. (City's Am. Answer ¶ 190.)

¹¹ Section 5-7-260(6) requires a municipal council to pass an ordinance to "[s]ell or lease or contract to sell or lease any lands of the municipality[.]"

Given that subsection (6) of § 5-7-260 required the City's sale of the Property to Plaintiff to be accomplished by ordinance (namely, the 2004 Ordinance), subsection (7) of the § 5-7-260 applies to require any amendment or repeal of the 2004 Ordinance to be accomplished by ordinance, too. § 5-7-260(7) (providing that an ordinance is required to "[a]mend or repeal any ordinance described in items (1) through (6) above"). The City has never enacted an ordinance amending or repealing the terms of the 2004 Ordinance. (City's Am. Answer ¶ 187.) Consequently, the 2004 Ordinance remains in full force and effect to this day.

In or around 2017, Plaintiff approached the City seeking relief from the Reverter Clause. (City's Am. Answer ¶ 196.) Plaintiff represented to the City that the Property "wouldn't work" to build a law school and that it planned to sell the Property and use the proceeds to build the law school in another location within the City. (*Id.*) Discussions between Plaintiff and the City never resulted in City Council's passage of any ordinance amending or repealing the 2004 Ordinance. (City's Am. Answer ¶ 187.)

Plaintiff contends the 2017 discussions led to the City's mayor signing agreements with Plaintiff requiring the City to extinguish the Reverter Clause, including the documents Plaintiff refers to as the "2017 Modification Agreement" and the "2019 Modification Agreement." (City's Am. Answer ¶ 198.) The City denies that the 2017 Modification Agreement and the 2019 Modification Agreement were properly executed and contends they were illegally executed and are unenforceable. (City's Am. Answer ¶ 187.) Plaintiff also contends that the six (6)-year period established by the Reverter Clause was extended,¹³ and the City likewise denies any valid extension. (City's Am. Answer ¶ 187.)

¹² (City's Am. Answer ¶¶ 183-186, 188-189; *see also* Exhibit A to City's Am. Answer [2004 Ordinance].)

¹³ (Am. Compl. ¶¶ 21-23.)

Subsequently, in 2021, the City discovered that in 2013 a consultant prepared a “feasibility study” for Plaintiff that concludes the Property is suitable for a law school building. (City’s Am. Answer ¶¶ 193-95; *see also* Ex. B to City’s Am. Answer [Feasibility Study].) The feasibility study proposes a law school building for the Property that meets Plaintiff’s building needs within Plaintiff’s cost estimates. (City’s Am. Answer ¶ 194.) The feasibility study states that the Property is “ideal” for Plaintiff and that Plaintiff was “very pleased” with the proposed building plan for the Property. (*Id.*)

Plaintiff did not disclose the feasibility study to the City. (City’s Am. Answer ¶¶ 195, 197.) The feasibility study directly conflicts with Plaintiff’s 2017 representations to the City that the Property “wouldn’t work,” and the City would never have entertained Plaintiff’s proposal to sell the Property to a third party if it had known of the feasibility study. (City’s Am. Answer ¶¶ 199, 202; *see also* Ex. B to City’s Am. Answer [Feasibility Study].) Plaintiff proposed the sale of the Property in 2017 to the City under false pretenses of needing a different location. (City’s Am. Answer ¶ 202.) Plaintiff never had plans to reinvest the funds from the sale of the Property into construction of a permanent law school building as represented to the City. (City’s Am. Answer ¶ 203.) Rather, the undisclosed purpose of Plaintiff’s 2017 discussions with the City was to distribute the funds from the Property sale to enrich the small number of owners of the for-profit LLC. (City’s Am. Answer ¶¶ 201, 204.)

Plaintiffs have demanded that the City issue a quit claim deed that extinguishes the Reverter Clause so as to aid Plaintiff’s sale of the Property to hotel developer OmShera. The City has not done so and seeks to enforce its rights under the Reverter Clause.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

A judgment on the pleadings is “a drastic procedure”¹⁴ that “is not favored by the courts”¹⁵ and should not be granted “if there is an issue of fact raised by the [challenged pleading] which, if resolved in favor of the [pleader], would entitle him to judgment.” *Russell*, 305 S.C. at 89, 406 S.E.2d at 339. When considering a motion for a judgment on the pleadings, the challenged pleading must “be liberally construed in favor of the pleader;”¹⁶ “the court must regard all properly pleaded factual allegations as admitted;”¹⁷ and as to every fact so pleaded, “any inference of law or conclusions of fact that may properly arise therefrom are to be regarded as embraced in the averment.” *Russell*, 305 S.C. at 89, 406 S.E.2d at 339. “Moreover, a [pleading] is sufficient if it states any cause of action or it appears that the [pleader] is entitled to any relief whatsoever.” *Id.*; see also *Diminich v. 2001 Enters., Inc.*, 292 S.C. 141, 142, 355 S.E.2d 275, 275 (Ct. App. 1987) (“A motion for judgment on the pleadings will be sustained only where the pleadings are so defective that, taking all the facts alleged in the pleadings as admitted, no cause of action or defense is stated.”).

¹⁴ *Home Builders Ass’n of S.C. v. Sch. Dist. No. 2 of Dorchester Cnty.*, 405 S.C. 458, 460, 748 S.E.2d 230, 231 (2013) (quoting *Russell v. City of Columbia*, 305 S.C. 86, 89, 406 S.E.2d 338, 339 (1991)).

¹⁵ *Wooten v. Standard Life & Cas. Inc. Co.*, 239 S.C. 243, 248, 122 S.E.2d 637, 639 (1961) (quoting 41 Am. Jur. Pleading § 336 p. 521).

¹⁶ *Wooten*, 239 S.C. at 248, 122 S.E.2d at 639 (quoting 41 Am. Jur. Pleading § 336 p. 521).

ARGUMENT

I. The circuit court erred in granting Plaintiff’s motion for a partial judgment on the pleadings against the City.

A. The circuit court misapplied the legal standard for deciding a motion for judgment on the pleadings.

A judgment on the pleadings is improper in this case because the allegations in Plaintiff’s operative complaint and the City’s operative answer conflict.¹⁸ The circuit court failed to consider all allegations in the City’s operative answer as true for purposes of the motion.

Moreover, discovery is necessary on Plaintiff’s allegations—which renders judgment on the pleadings inappropriate. The circuit court granted judgment in Plaintiff’s favor on critical issues in this case without allowing the City an opportunity to conduct discovery on Plaintiff’s claims, and without the opportunity to pursue discovery in support of all of the City’s defenses and counterclaims in this case. No depositions have been taken. Plaintiff has refused to respond to many of the City’s written discovery requests, which required the City to file a motion to compel. (City’s Mot. to Compel Pl.’s Full and Complete Discovery Responses.) The circuit court never heard the City’s motion to compel and instead granted Plaintiff’s motion for a judgment on the pleadings. The circuit court erred in doing so and should be reversed.

B. The circuit court misinterpreted subsections (6) and (7) of § 5-7-260 and wrongly found them inapplicable.

In 2004, City Council authorized the sale and transfer of the Property to Plaintiff via City ordinance, i.e., the 2004 Ordinance,¹⁹ which is the *statutorily required* method for selling lands

¹⁷ *Falk v. Sadler*, 341 S.C. 281, 286, 533 S.E.2d 350, 353 (Ct. App. 2000).

belonging to a municipality. § 5-7-260(6). The 2004 Ordinance, which has never been amended, repealed, or otherwise modified, remains in full force and effect to this day. One of the key provisions of the 2004 Ordinance is the Reverter Clause. (City’s Am. Answer ¶¶ 183-186; *see also* Ex. A to City’s Am. Answer [2004 Ordinance].) The Reverter Clause states that if the Property is not used for law school purposes and a law school is not built within six (6) years, ownership *automatically* reverts back to the City. (City’s Am. Answer ¶¶ 183-85.) Without question, Plaintiff never built a law school. (City’s Am. Answer ¶ 190.) Therefore, the Property automatically reverted back to the City after six (6) years, the City owns the Property in fee simple absolute, and Plaintiff has no rights in the Property to sell to OmShera.

The validity of the 2017 and 2019 Modification Agreements, and of the alleged extension of the six (6)-year period established by the Reverter Clause before them, is essential to Plaintiff’s claims. These alleged agreements seek to amend or repeal the 2004 Ordinance to eliminate the Reverter Clause. To be valid under § 5-7-260, they had to be approved by ordinance, which they never were.

The circuit court erroneously concluded that the requirements in § 5-7-260 do not apply. (Order Granting Mot. for J. on the Pleadings p. 23.) Based on this error, the circuit court wrongly found that the alleged agreements on which Plaintiff relies did not have to be approved by City ordinance to be valid and enforceable.

¹⁸ (*Compare* Am. Compl. with City’s Am. Answer.) *See Firemen’s Ins. Co. of Newark, New Jersey v. Cincinnati Ins. Co.*, 302 S.C. 234, 237, 394 S.E.2d 855, 857 (Ct. App. 1990) (finding that where there are conflicting allegations, the allegations are subject to proof, requiring denial of a motion for judgment on the pleadings); *Pope v. Wilson*, 427 S.C. 377, 384, 831 S.E.2d 442, 445-46 (Ct. App. 2019) (“[A] judgment on the pleadings is considered to be a drastic procedure by our courts.”).

¹⁹ (City’s Am. Answer ¶ 184; *see also* Exhibit A to City’s Am. Answer)

Section 5-7-260 specifies the acts that a municipality must approve by ordinance to be legal and enforceable:

In addition to other acts required by law to be done by ordinance, *those acts of the municipal council shall be by ordinances which:*

- (1) Adopt or amend an administrative code or establish, alter or abolish any municipal department, office or agency;
- (2) Provide for a fine or other penalty or establish a rule or regulation in which a fine or other penalty is imposed for violations;
- (3) Adopt budgets, levy taxes, except as otherwise provided with respect to the property tax levied by adoption of a budget, pursuant to public notice;
- (4) Grant, renew or extend franchises;
- (5) Authorize the borrowing of money;
- (6) *Sell or lease or contract to sell or lease any lands of the municipality; and*
- (7) *Amend or repeal any ordinance described in items (1) through (6) above.*

(emphasis added). According to this statute, the sale of municipal lands requires an ordinance (*see* subsection (6)), as does the amendment or repeal of an ordinance approving the sale of municipal lands (*see* subsection (7)).

Here, the 2004 Ordinance approves the sale of municipal lands, as required by § 5-7-260(6). Therefore, § 5-7-260(7) requires another ordinance to amend or repeal the 2004 Ordinance. The alleged agreements on which Plaintiff relies purport to alter or extinguish the Reverter Clause. To alter or extinguish the Reverter Clause—a key provision of the 2004 Ordinance—is to amend the 2004 Ordinance. Because the City did not approve the alleged agreements on which Plaintiff relies by ordinance in accordance with subsection § 5-7-260(7), the alleged agreements on which Plaintiff relies are invalid and unenforceable.

The circuit court emphasizes that the Reverter Clause independently is not an estate in land to erroneously conclude that the effort to alter or extinguish it did not require an ordinance

under § 5-7-260(7). The circuit court's interpretation not only disregards the plain language of § 5-7-260(7) but indeed renders it meaningless. It is well settled that a court cannot construe a statute in a way which leads to an absurd result or renders it meaningless. *Charleston Cnty. Parks & Recreation Comm'n v. Somers*, 319 S.C. 65, 68, 459 S.E.2d 841, 843 (1995). Section 5-7-260(7) requires a *new ordinance* to amend or repeal a previous ordinance that was already enacted pursuant to (1)-(6). The amendment itself does not independently have to be a sale of municipal land or otherwise covered by items (1)-(6), the prior ordinance, i.e., the ordinance that is being amended or repealed, simply has to be any ordinance "described in items (1) through (6) above." Under the circuit court's interpretation, there would be no need for subsection (7). The circuit court, therefore, erred because its interpretation renders the legislature's specific inclusion of subsection (7) meaningless.

The circuit court's interpretation of § 5-7-260 is inconsistent with South Carolina Supreme Court precedent. In *Berkeley Electric Cooperative, Inc. v. Town of Mount Pleasant*, our Supreme Court voided a contract between the town and the co-op notwithstanding the fact that it had been signed the town's mayor signed and approved by the town council via *resolution* because the town council had not approved the contract by *ordinance*. 308 S.C. 205, 417 S.E.2d 579 (1992). In applying the same statute at issue here, § 5-7-260, the Supreme Court held that "when a municipality goes beyond the law, the person who deals with it in doing so does so at his own risk." *Id.* at 211, 417 S.E.2d at 583.

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