RECEIVED

Mar 12 2025

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
The Honorable Roger M. Young, Sr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2024-000064
Case No. 2021-CP-10-05645

THE CHARLESTON SCHOOL OF LAW, LLC, a South
Carolina limited liability company, Respondent.

v.

CITY OF CHARLESTON, a municipal corporation, and
OMSHERA HOTEL GROUP, LLC, a North Carolina
limited liability company, Defendants,

of which CITY OF CHARLESTON, a municipal corporation, is the Appellant.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT THE CHARLESTON SCHOOL OF LAW, LLC

H. Brewton Hagood (SC Bar #2438)
Daniel F. Blanchard, III (SC Bar #65432)

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT CORRECTLY GRANTED RESPONDENT CSOL'S MOTION FOR PARTIAL JUDGMENT ON THE PLEADINGS.

A. The circuit court applied the correct standard for deciding the CSOL's motion and did not prematurely grant the motion.

The City states in conclusory fashion that the circuit court's order misapplies the correct standard for granting a judgment on the pleadings and further argues a judgment on the pleadings was improper "because the allegations in [CSOL's] operative complaint and the City's operative answer conflict." (City's Init. Brief p.8). The City also makes the naked claim that "discovery is necessary" to resolve the issues raised in the CSOL's motion. *Id.* These arguments lack merit.

While the City says there are conflicts in the parties' pleadings, it nowhere points to any *factual dispute* in the pleadings that would preclude the circuit court from granting a judgment on the pleadings involving the particular issues or claims addressed in its order. Rather, the City's brief emphasizes its *conflicting legal arguments* concerning the state statute at issue and its *conflicting interpretations* of the governing documents (ordinance, deed, contracts). The mere fact the parties have differing opinions about the law or conflicting interpretations of the documents is not grounds for denying a motion for judgment on the pleadings. Such conflicts are not factual issues. Baker Hosp. v. Firemans Fund Ins. Co., 314 S.C. 98, 101, 441 S.E.2d 822, 823 (1994) ("A judgment on the pleadings ... is not proper if there is *an issue of fact* raised by the complaint which, if resolved in favor of the plaintiff, would entitle him to judgment." (emphasis added)).

In deciding a Rule 12(c) motion, the court deems admitted all properly pleaded facts; however, "[t]he motion does not admit the inferences drawn by the [nonmoving] party from the facts nor does it admit conclusions of law." Fireman's Ins. Co. v. Cincinnati Ins. Co., 302 S.C. 234, 235, 394 S.E.2d 855, 856 (Ct. App. 1990). "While the Court considers the facts in the light

most favorable to the nonmoving party, the Court need not accept the legal conclusions drawn from the facts, and need not accept as true unwarranted inferences, unreasonable conclusions or arguments.” Kinsale Ins. Co. v. Seaboard Ventures Inc., No. 4:22-CV-00944-RBH, 2023 WL 3096520, at *3-4 (D.S.C. Apr. 26, 2023) (quoting Giarratano v. Johnson, 521 F.3d 298, 302 (4th Cir. 2008)) (internal quotation marks omitted). The court may consider the pleadings, exhibits thereto, and documents incorporated therein by reference. See S.C. R. CIV. PRO. 10(c); Carolina First, 343 S.C. at 190 n.7, 539 S.E.2d at 410 n.7.

When the case presents a question as to the construction of a written contract and the contract’s language is clear and unambiguous, the question is not one of fact but one of law. Stanley Smith & Sons v. D.M.R. Inc., 307 S.C. 413, 415 S.E.2d 428 (Ct. App. 1992); see also S.C. Dep’t of Nat. Res. v. Town of McClellanville, 345 S.C. 617, 623, 550 S.E.2d 299, 303 (2001) (construction of a clear and unambiguous deed is a question of law for the court). When the contract is unambiguous, courts look only to the language of the contract itself and not to extrinsic evidence to discover the parties’ intent—i.e., that intention must be found within the contract’s “four corners.” Windham v. Riddle, 381 S.C. 192, 201, 672 S.E.2d 578, 583 (2009). The parol evidence rule prevents introduction of extrinsic evidence “to contradict, add to, subtract from, vary or explain” the terms of a written instrument. Proffitt v. Sitton, 244 S.C. 206, 210, 136 S.E.2d 257, 259 (1964); Gilliland v. Elmwood Properties, 301 S.C. 295, 391 S.E.2d 577, 581 (1990).

Judgment on the pleadings is particularly appropriate where a claim’s availability or viability is governed by the terms of an unambiguous contract. See Lane v. Krein, 297 S.C. 133, 135, 375 S.E.2d 351, 352 (Ct. App. 1988) (affirming judgment on the pleadings when partnership agreement’s terms showed minority partner lacked capacity to pursue claim without majority vote of partnership); VoiceAge Corp. v. RealNetworks, Inc., 926 F.Supp.2d 524, 529 (S.D.N.Y. 2013)

(“Thus, a motion for judgment on the pleadings ‘can be particularly appropriate in breach of contract cases involving legal interpretations of the obligations of the parties.”); Ballard, 442 S.C. at 34, 897 S.E.2d at 189 (affirming judgment on the pleadings in declaratory judgment action involving interpretation and application of provisions of insurance policy).

Likewise, judgment on the pleadings is proper where the party’s claims or defenses are not viable under the law. See Douglas v. Boyce, 336 S.C. 318, 325, 519 S.E.2d 802, 806 (Ct. App. 1999) (affirming judgment on the pleadings where state statute did not grant cause of action claimed by plaintiff); Bouchelle Inc. v. Canopus US Ins., C/A No. 2016-CP-10-04984 (Charleston Cty. Comm. Pleas Jan. 9, 2018) (granting judgment on the pleadings where plaintiff lacked standing to pursue claims); Doe v. Citadel & Marlin Quincy Pryor, C/A No. 2016-CP-10-03320 (Charleston Cty. Comm. Pleas March 7, 2017) (granting judgment on the pleadings where the South Carolina Tort Claims Act barred plaintiff’s tort claims); Parker v. Estate of Franklin Lafayette, C/A No. 2016-CP-10-00204 (Charleston Cty. Comm. Pleas Feb. 26, 2019) (granting judgment on the pleadings where statute of limitations barred plaintiff’s claims).

In this case, the circuit court’s order is clear it granted the CSOL’s motion based on its interpretation of the 2004 Ordinance as well as the subsequent deed and written contracts between the City and the CSOL. **(R. 1-30)**. The CSOL attached copies of these documents as exhibits to its Amended Complaint. The Amended Complaint alleges the City’s Council approved the contracts by resolution and the City’s Mayor signed them on the City’s behalf. **(R. 279-325)**. The City’s Answer nowhere disputes these facts. **(R. 345-392)**. The City does not dispute the execution or authenticity of the ordinance, deed, or contracts. As a result, there is no factual issue or “conflict” in the pleadings that would prevent the circuit court from deciding the issues raised

in the CSOL's motion. The only conflict involves the proper application of state law to the uncontroverted documents, not the resolution of factual disputes.

The City argues that although its Council approved the contracts by resolutions and the Mayor signed them on the City's behalf, the CSOL's contracts with the City supposedly are nevertheless illegal under S.C. CODE ANN. § 5-7-260(6) and (7) because the Council did not enact a second ordinance approving them. The City posits that § 5-7-260(6) and (7) required a second ordinance before the City could execute a contract releasing the POR contained within the 2005 Deed from the City to the CSOL. This is strictly a legal determination, not a resolution of any factual issue. The legal issues before the court involve whether § 5-7-260(6) or (7) requires the contracts in question to be accomplished or approved by another City ordinance rather than a resolution and whether the original ordinance (the 2004 Ordinance) already satisfies the requirements of § 5-7-260(6) and (7).

The circuit court's order decided these legal issues against the City. **(R. 1-30)**. It found the City's defenses based on § 5-7-260 fail as a matter of law (i) because the statute has no application to a POR, which is *not* an estate in land, and (ii) even assuming *arguendo* the statute could be construed to apply to the POR, the 2004 Ordinance already authorizes the Mayor to execute the necessary documents (quitclaim deed or release of POR) to facilitate the CSOL's sale of the Property to a third party with the City's consent, which was given. **(R. 1-30 pp.18-29)**.

These findings are properly based on the well-pled factual allegations in the Amended Complaint, which include the terms and provisions of the ordinance, deeds, and contracts. The City does not dispute any of these facts; instead, it argues the contracts are invalidated by operation of § 5-7-260. It is unnecessary to conduct discovery to resolve that legal question. In fact, additional discovery would be futile when the governing documents are unambiguous and extrinsic

evidence would be inadmissible to vary their terms. Roper, LLC v. Harris Teeter, Inc., No. 2013-YP-327, 2013 WL 8539469, at *2 (S.C. Ct. App. July 17, 2013) (“[W]e find no merit to Germania’s assertion it should be allowed to conduct discovery. As stated above, we hold the Letter Agreement was not ambiguous. Therefore, no further discovery was needed.”).

Importantly, even if the City believed it did not have sufficient time to conduct discovery to oppose the motion, it should have promptly filed a motion seeking additional discovery time. Savannah Bank, N.A. v. Stalliard, 400 S.C. 246, 253, 734 S.E.2d 161, 165 (2012) (finding that if the appellant “believed he did not have sufficient time [to uncover evidence and speak with any potential witnesses], [he] should have promptly filed a motion seeking additional discovery time”). The City never pursued such a motion.

The City also never moved for a continuance of the motion hearing to pursue further discovery, thus waiving the issue of additional discovery. Bayle v. S.C. Dep't of Transp., 344 S.C. 115, 128, 542 S.E.2d 736, 742 (Ct. App. 2001) (argument that trial court prematurely ruled on motion was waived when party did not move for a continuance in which to pursue further discovery); Pryor v. Northwest Apartments, Ltd., 321 S.C. 524, 469 S.E.2d 630 (Ct. App. 1996) (whether judge erred in granting summary judgment because discovery requests were outstanding was waived when party did not ask court to continue case so discovery could be completed); Degenhart v. Knights of Columbus, 309 S.C. 114, 420 S.E.2d 495 (1992) (parties waived argument that court erred in granting motion while parties had motion to compel outstanding when the parties failed to move for a continuance).

In sum, the circuit court did not misapply the correct standard in granting the CSOL’s motion. It did not prematurely grant the CSOL’s motion.

B. The circuit court properly found § 5-7-260 is inapplicable because the release of the possibility of reverter does not involve land or an estate in land nor does it repeal or amend an ordinance approving the sale or lease of municipal land.

The City argues that § 5-7-260(6) & (7) purportedly required the City to enact a second ordinance approving the POR's release or modification. (City's Init. Brief pp.8-12). These statutes require a municipal ordinance for the City to "sell or lease or contract to sell or lease *any lands of the municipality*" or to "amend or repeal any ordinance" selling or leasing or contracting to sell or lease *any lands of the municipality*. S.C. CODE ANN. § 5-7-260(6) & (7) (emphasis added). However, as a matter of law, those sections are inapplicable to the POR and its release.

As the circuit court observed, South Carolina's courts have long held that a POR is not an "estate in land" which can be conveyed, alienated, or devised—rather, it is a mere right of possibility. Indeed, the City's brief nowhere disputes or quarrels with this settled principle.

Section 5-7-260(6) is inapplicable because a POR does not involve any lands of the City. "The [POR] is the interest remaining in the grantor after conveying a fee simple conditional or a fee simple determinable." 27 S.C. JUR. Mortgages § 19 (2023) (citing Waller v. Waller, 220 S.C. 212, 66 S.E.2d 876 (1951) and Purvis v. McElveen, 234 S.C. 94, 106 S.E.2d 913 (1959)). For centuries, South Carolina's courts have consistently ruled that a POR is not an "estate in land" which can be conveyed, alienated, or devised—rather, it is a mere right of possibility. "The possibility of a reverter, after the termination of a fee conditional, being a mere possibility, is not an estate." Vaughn v. Lanford, 81 S.C. 282, 62 S.E. 316, 317 (1908). "The [POR] is a mere right, at most, and ... it cannot be of grant, devise or inheritance." Adams v. Chaplin, 10 S.C. Eq. 265, 279 (S.C. App. L. & Eq. 1833). "The [POR] is this mere floating right of possibility." Id.

In Purvis, the South Carolina Supreme Court discussed many older cases holding that "[t]he interest remaining in the grantor after he has conveyed land in fee simple determinable or

conditional is a [POR].” 234 S.C. at 99, 106 S.E.2d at 916. The Court concluded that this POR “is not an estate, but a mere possibility of acquiring one.” Id. “It cannot be the subject of devise or inheritance” Id. “Nor can it be conveyed.” Id. This is because a conveyance of land in fee simple determinable or conditional leaves “nothing in the grantor that can be the subject of devise or inheritance.” Id. at 100, 106 S.E.2d at 916. The Court further said:

[T]he grantee’s estate may continue forever, but is liable to termination upon the happening of an uncertain event. . . . But the inalienability of the [POR] . . . results from the fact that the whole estate has passed from the grantor, and the only interest remaining in him, viz.: the [POR], is an interest too nebulous, under the common law concept, to be devised or conveyed.

Id. at 100-01, 106 S.E.2d at 916; see also Hull v. Hull, 24 S.C. Eq. 65, 78 (S.C. App. Eq. 1850) (“This reverter is not considered in law as an estate. It is too small and remote an interest to have that character impressed upon it. It is too remote and contingent to be valued. There is no appreciable interest left in the donor.”); 27 S.C. JUR. Mortgages § 19 (A POR “is neither a present nor future estate, but a mere possibility of acquiring one. It may not be the subject of inheritance or devise. South Carolina follows the common law rule that the [POR] is not alienable, and therefore, may not be the subject of a mortgage.” (footnotes omitted)).

Similarly, in Waller, the South Carolina Supreme Court held that “[t]he [POR], after the termination of a fee conditional, being a mere possibility, is not an estate.” 220 S.C. at 220-21, 66 S.E.2d at 881. The Court further said:

It is neither a present nor a future right, but a mere possibility that a right may arise upon the happening of a contingency, which is not the subject of either devise or inheritance. This is because the grant or devise of a fee conditional passes the whole estate to the tenant in fee, leaving nothing in the grantor or devisor which can be the subject of devise or inheritance

Id. (quoting Blount v. Walker, 31 S.C. 13, 9 S.E. 804, 807 (1889)). “[H]e who has the [POR], has no present interest, either in law or in fact, and the presumption is, that he will never have any, the

whole estate, according to the cases, is in the tenant in fee conditional.” Deas v. Horry, 11 S.C. Eq. 244, 249 (S.C. App. L. & Eq. 1835); see Crawford v. Masters, 98 S.C. 458, 82 S.E. 793, 794 (1914) (“Such a right [POR], according to the views before expressed, is not regarded as property; it is a mere possibility, analogous in some degree to an heir apparent’s right of succession.”).

These decisions remain the law in South Carolina. In the more recent case of S.C. Dep’t of Parks, Recreation, & Tourism v. Brookgreen Gardens, 309 S.C. 388, 424 S.E.2d 465 (1992), several grants of property had been made to Brookgreen Gardens, an eleemosynary corporation, in fee simple determinable with a POR if the property was used for any purpose other than what was allowed in Brookgreen’s corporate charter. Id. at 390, 424 S.E.2d at 466. The court applied the holding in Purvis and recognized that “[t]he future interest which accompanies the fee simple determinable is the [POR].” Id. at 392, 424 S.E.2d at 467 (citing Purvis). It noted that a POR “has been held in South Carolina as non-transferable by will to a non heir, or by *inter vivos* alienation to a third party; however, it may be released to the party holding the fee simple determinable.” Id. A “release [by the holder] serves to eliminate the condition on the fee simple determinable estate, rendering the possessory interest a fee simple absolute.” Id. at 393, 424 S.E.2d at 467; see Burnett v. Snoddy, 199 S.C. 399, 19 S.E.2d 904, 907 (1942) (holding POR may be released to the tenant in fee conditional, so as to make his estate an absolute fee simple).

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